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FRIEDMAN, R,;
By patitions (iled on February 26, 2004, Commissioner of the New York City
Administration for Children’s Services [hereinafier ACS], alleges that the children D
- (bown January 3, 1989), A. _ . (bom March 25, 1991), E

(borz December 26, 1993),C and D | . . (borm August 31, [996), and J

. (bom January 22, 2004) are abused and/or neglected within the meaning of Family

ar

Court Act §1012,

The petitions allege that I then aged five weeks, was sdmitted to Schnsider

Children's Hospital on Pebruary 19, 2004, with theee skull fractures: a left fronlal vertex
fracture; = lef temporal fracturs, both with soft tissue swelling; and an occipital fracture,
extending toward the base of the skull, with no soft lissue swelling.

The petitions further allege that the parents® explanation of the child’s injuries are “nist
medically consistent” with thoss injuries.

Regarding the remazining children, the petitions allege, that as a result of the injuries
J sustained, they are derivalely abused and/or neglested children.

Og the dats of filing, Pebruary 26, 2004, a hearing in acoordsnce with Family Court Act
§1027 was conducied bafors Family Court Judss Robert Clark, Counsel for the Commissioner
and the law guardians appeared, as did assigned counse! for the mother. [The respondent father
appsared with retained counsel on Mazch 1, 2004, along with all other counse! before this Couri].
On asither date did the Commissioner of the law gusrdian for the Fve older children ever make
application for the remand of these children. That is, in accord with Family Court Act §1027,

they did not contend that these children®s interests require court arders of removal from home



into foster care to avoid imminent risk to the children’s life or health, The remand order for

J ~issued at the initial appearance on Februacy 26, 2004, was continued by this Court and
remains in effect. An order of protection was also issned against both parents conceming

J. remand:  they could visit under supervision and could not interfere with the care and
custedy of the faster parents, the child’s aunt and uncle, There has never been & violation of the
order of protection alleged against either parent, The older children have remained paroled to the
respondent parents under ACS supervision during the lengthy pendency of these proceedings.
Again, neither ACS nor their law guardian hes ever raised any child protective issues or concems
about the parents’ cars of the Ave childeen at home with them,

Tn order to determine whether the six children have been abused or neglected as alleged in
these petitions, a fact-finding hearing was conducted before this court. Five witnesses testified at
the fact-finding hearing: Ms. Heather Mathison-Bdwards, a child protective caseworksr
employed by ACS; Dr. Debra Bsemio-Jenssen, a pediatrician called as an experl witness by the
Commissioner; Dr, Steven Jack Schneider, a pediatric neurosurgeon called as an expert witness,
alzo by the Commissioner; and the respondent parents, 0 and J ", Seven exhibits
were also admitted into evidence. These exhibits consisted of the two reports of suspected child
abuss called in by Schazider Children*s Hospital; medical records fiom Mary Immacufate and
Sehnelder Hospitals; two o.v.’s of Drs. Eserjo-Jenssen and Schneider: and 2 CAT scan film '
referred to by Dr. Schrneider.

Ms. Mathison-Edwards has been a child protective caseworker for aver ffiecn years. She

estimates that she has made thousands of home visits. Assigned to this case on February 23,

2004, she began by going to the houss and speaking with the father; she found that she could




communicate with him in English, but that she needed to refurn with e Spanish-speaking
intezpmtgr to speak with the mother(whe in any event was not af home during her first home
visit, still remaining a¢ the hospital with the baby) and some of the children. She nlso reviewed
the reports of suspected child abrise which were called into the State Central Registry hy
Schneider Children’s Hospital on Pebruary 21, and February 22, 2605. She also spoke by phone
to Dr. Jenssen who had first seen the child Ji on Salurday, Febcuary 20, and again, on
February 21, 2005. She asked Dr, Jenssen whether any of these injuries could have been caused
during birth, and Dr. Jenssen said o, because the baby was defivered by C-section. It was
unclear 1o this caseworker whether Dr. Jenssen had seen the baby’s bixth records ot had known
whether the C-section had been scheduled or was an emergency response to the baby's breach
position. Dr. Jenssen told her that the two fractures on the side of the head could not have been
caused by a fall to the carpeted floor.

Ms, Mathison-Edwards found that the father wes forthcoming and cooperative, e
repoated what his wifo had told him when she ealled him at work: he sonfirmed that he had told
her to take the baby to the hospital. He was saddened and perplexed by Ms. Mathison’s reference
fo 2 thind, older fracture. He offered no explanation for the fracture(s} they had been told about,
other than fhe one ke and the mother had consistently given—lhe baby’s fall from her Fifieen ysar-
old sister’s arms.  The caseworker learned that Dr. Jenssen had interviewed the pareats for four
haurs over that weekend. Ms, Mathison-Edwards went o the hospital that same evening, She
saw the baby, who hed no visible marks or bruises, and who was eating and slesping well, In no

apperent disiress. Medical personnel told hee that they could not daie the purported ithird

frapture (the occipital),



The next day she returned to the [, home with an interpreter. Neither pareni was
yet home; the father, on the way home from work; the mother, on the way home from the
hospital. A maternal aunt was with the childeen. She agein found the home extremely neat and
clean. She interviewed each child individually. She had informed the parents of her intent to

interview the children; they had not asked her to wait until they arvived.

She found that each child gave her lis or own account of what happened in his or her
own words from his or her own vantage poiat; shs found each of them fortheoming and
cooperative and she did not feel as theugh any of them had been coached or rehearsed. Each
child was, she found, happy and well-adjusted and loving of the other family members, - Each
was saddeaed by what had happened to their baby sister. Each child stated that the parents never
used corporal punishment; they were disciplined by being sent (o their room or by losing TV
privileges. None of the children had ever seen either parent do anything mean to the baby. The
baby slept in a crib in the parents® bedioom. Their mother prevented all but D , the oldest,
from holding the baby, although each child expressed a desire 1o do 50. For instance, C ly
who was in the living room when the baby fell, said that he Jikes to hold the baby, but hiz mother
tells bim not ta touch the baby, Ms, Mathison-Edward specifically ssked the childres abou this,
since she knew ihat younger children liked to hold and play with baby siblings,

D was very sad when she recounted what hiad happened. She demcﬁsﬁémé how she
had been holding baby J at her mother’s request, while lier mother was runcisg a bath for
the baby. She demonstrated where she had besn standing in the living room, nesr the couch, that
the baby was in hor arms which were crossed, forming a cradie for the baby, that she was holding

her shout 2142 -3 feet above the carpeted floor (observed by the caseworker (o be relatively thick,
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new carpeting), and recking from side to side when the baby fell out of her srms onto the
carpeted floor. In response to the caseworkes’s question, she denied that the baby hed hit the
couch on the way down. Her eight year-old brother C was also sitting in the living room,
watching TV at the time. The baby screamed when she fell; D was afraid o touch the baby.
She waited until her mother ran in from the bathroom and picked up the baby.

- Ms, Mathison-Bdwards spoke with all of the children. They were all home from schoo at
the time of the incident which cccurred during a week school wasinrecess. A who was
cleven years old knew that her baby sister had fallen. She had first boen in the Kitchen: then, in
her bedroom; she did not see the fall. She heard the baby cry and came out o ses her mother
pick the baby up from the foor. C told the casewarker that he was sitting in the living
room walching TV when the baby fll. He confirmed how D had been holding the baby.
He showed her the coush he was sitting on which is next to the TV and poiated out the couch en
the other side where D was standing with the baby. 1t is unclear as to whether this couch
was in his direct view. [n response toa question, as to how the baby looked when she fell, he

said that she fell onto her left side and cried and that his mother came in and picked the baby up

fomthefloor. D ,C "s twin, was also interviewed; he said that he had bean in the

bedroom, playing with his toys, heard the baby scream, came out (o see what happened, and saw
his mother picking up the baby from the floor. B, nine years old, had been playing outside
at about 11:00 a.m. when this incident occurred. The bathroom is located down 2 hall which iz

next to the kitchen, which is next 1o the living room. Everyone estimated that the mother gotty

the living roem in 2 matter of seconds,

Ms. Mathison-Edwards interviewed the mother at her home on February 24, 2005, She



wag preparing & bath to give the baby and had asked her oldest, her fiftcen year-old daughter to
hold the baby while she was doing this. She heard a scream while she was in the bathroom and
sheranout. [t was the baby whom she had hemrd screaming: D diid not scream, Nordid
C - When she arrived in the living room, she saw the baby on the floor and she picked up
the baby. She looked at the baby; Mrs. . feltnervous, She said that the baby was
“screaming hard[;] she figured something had, you know, had happened, so she ran oul. It
wasn't & norroal cry, it was a scream, so she ran right out from: the bathroom.™ She paused 1o call
hec husband, and then took the baby to Mary fmmaculate Hospital. She could not understand
how the baby had incurred an old injury; she asked the easeworker whether that couid have
‘happened during birth. Aside from this speculation as to the origin of the “old" fracture, the
mother aleo consistently gave the account of the baby's fali from her teenaged daughter’s arms
as her only explanation of an unusuaf occurrence prior to the baby's hospitalization,

ACS never requested that any of the other children, ranging in age from eight to fifleey
years old be brought for medical examinations or observations.

D:. Debra Esemic-Jenssen was called as a witaess by the petitioner. Dr. Esemio-Jenssen,
a pediafrician, is associated with the Division of General Pedistrics at Schneider Children's
Hospital, and she is the divector of the hospital’s Child Protection Team, Dr. Esemic-Jenssen
was qualificd as an expert in pediatrics and in child abuse,

Dr. Eseraio-Jenssen first examined Jennifer on February 22, 2004, three days afler she
was edmitted 1o Schneider Children’s Hospital of Long Island Jewish Heospital as s transfer from
Mary Immaculate Hospital where she had been taken on February 18, 2004. Her team was

called in (o consult by the attending pediatric resident, The Mary Immaculaie Hospirsl CAT scan
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had revesled two skull fractures [the occlpital at the back of the head and one on the left side;
the Schnelder’s scan and MRY, theee]. * The earlier CAT scan had shown 2 contusion; the
Schueider scan had not,  J “ was in a regular medical unit, and not in intensive care. She
found that the child “appeared to be extremely weli cared for, very rabust.fand] that thece were
absolutely no manifestations of abuse.” The only physical finding was that the baby had some
swelling on her scalp on her leR side slightly above her sar, the srea of the linear {non-depressed)
paietal fracture.  When the doctor pafpated it, it did not scem to bother the child at all. Dr.
Jenssen conceded that the amount of soft tissue swelling was small, and may not have been
noticeable to a layman, The child did not have any retinal hemorrbages. Sometimes, with a

severe impact, small numbers could be found on one area of the eve. This was never considerad

& case of shaken baby syndrome,
Since there were disparities between the Mary Iromaculate CAT -scan and the Schaeider

CAT sean and MRL, Drs. Jenssen,. Schneider, and Johnson, a nevroradiologist, decided to order
a lhree dimensional CAT scan which made it much casier to ses the facture lines, Dt Jenssen
did ot in her testimony raise any foliow-up discussion between her and Dr. Schneider about hiy
conciusions as a pediatric neurclogist about the results of this refined test. This revealed,
according to Dr. Jenssen’s testimeny, three fractures, “but two of the Fractures looked like they
clearly were emanating from the same impact site.” {near the area where the soft tissue swelting
was on the child]. They appeared to lins up as one fracture. The third fracture, according 1o Dr,
Jeassen, went from the back of the head down towards the neck, That was the oeeipital fracture.
There was no 5ol tissue swelliog nesr the cocipital site; there wes a “very small™ subdural

hematoma near the soft tissue swelling site. Such an injury in 2 child this young, bacause of the



elastic nature of an infant’s skull, would have to be cansed by a contact injury—either a child
falling from a sufficient height and/or onto an unforgiving surface or Grom something making
contact with the child’s head. The occipital fracture could not have occurred at the same time as
did the other fracture(s). She believed it to be the older of the Gractures, as there was no soft
tissue swelling. Dr. Jenssen never received an explanation from the parents or from anyore else
of the fracture in the back of the head,

De. Jenssen ruled out any possibility that the C-section could have resulted in trauma o
the baby’s head during delivery. She also miled ont the parents’ and 15 year-old’s description of
the fall 2z the cause of the linear paristal fracture(s) on the loh side of the baby’s head. While
this fail might have occurred, it was not, according to Dr, Jenssen , the cause of the baby’s
injuries. To butiress this conclusion, Dr. Jenssen cited three studies with a toial sampie of
approximately 367 children who suffered observed Falls in hospitals onto harder surfaces than the

soft carpetinginthe L . home. [n addition to a collarbone fracture and a “questionable”

occipital fracture, these studies revealed stightly less than 1 percent incidence of skull factures
{three, in these studies). The child had 2 bacterial infection (for which she had undergone 2 spinal
tap). Dr. Jenszen testified that whatever hed caused it as well as an abnormal cosgulation

factor revealed in blood tests did not indicats a brittle bone condition which might have made

the child prone lo fraciures,

Dr. Jenssen conducted her interviews of both pareats in pemson, and of D , by
telephone, with the ald of an social worker on her team who was fluent in Spandsh. The secial
worker Inferprated; there was no speaker phone. These interviews occurred days after the ACS

interviews and after any infczvicws with other medical and hospital personnel. From the




translated answers, Dr. Jenssen concluded that the parents andD  sounded “almost
rehearsed” because they alf used the same words, such as “sleeping like 2 baby”to describe

when Jennifer fell onto the floer [the child did not ery immediately wpos impact]. She later
conceded that it would not have been unusual for all family members to discuss among
themselves the evenis leading up to the baby’s hospitalization and her condition. She noted
some other phrages they used in common; there weve also differences. The mother thought that
the baby had fallen on her right side. Under repeated questioning by Dr. Jenssen, D

changed her story somewhat and said maybe the surface onto which the baby had fallen was “a
little haed.” Dr. Jenssen learned only after the interviews (from the ACS caseworker) that fificen
year-old D might be suffering from cerebral palsy or from some other condition that gave

her an “awloward™ gait. The hospital record notes also indicate that D suffeced from a

scizure disorder.
Dr. Jenassn conceded that by the thme she interviewed the parends, the child was doing

well medically and that they were aware of the child’s injuries. Nevertheless, she remarked in
her interview notes that neither parent asked about the baby’s welfare, She considered the
epparent omission'interesting,” and significant despits the fact that the parsnis had been
constantly present in the hospital and had kept themselves informed by speaking to other medigal
and hospital personnel, She insisted that her focus was on the lack of a plausible explanation(s)
for these injuries. However, she regarded a social history as “very importent™ when doing a

forensic interview and eadly medical examination of a child: birth history, past medica! history;

social history.

Dr. Esernio-Jenssen seems to have focused most on M, “in her forensic

id



interview. She pointed out in hier notes that “mom and dad portrayed their life s ideal, with no
worries or stresses.™ She then wrote, “with six children, one income household"(she did not ask
how much Mr. 7 #earned as a full-time construction Forstman, working steadily), and also
with issues regarding their iramigration status, “I ean't imagine no stresses,” She knew that Mr.

* had come here from Ecuador about twelve years ago and admitted that she did not
know anything about his standard of living there. In response o a question by respondent
father’s counsel, she stated that she “atfll thinks it's suspicious. * The Court then asked, “what
was the significance of that?™ She answered, ‘:wetl, 1 think that when you live in [a] two-
bedroom or one-bedroom apartment--" The Court asked 5 follow-up question: [I]n terms of
your assessment as to whether this was abuse, what, if any, significance is there in your saying
that you think they are not being candid about how much stress is in their lives? Dr, Jenssen
replied, “[blecause it's based on the fact that I had found out from the parents that they have a
prior ACS encounter and what is well reported in the medical lierature and what is well
known...nationally, is that child abuse ocours at times of stress in the household, It could be
fioancial stress, i could be emotional stress. It could be postpartum siress and those are the kind
oF social questions or social history questions [ ask.” “We ask for issues shout domestic
violense, drig or slechol use, Again, those are all stresses in a houschold._f find it very hard to
believe thal there is absolutely no siress within the circumstances of how they're living, Andl
find that suspicious.”

Dr. Jenssen testified about, and her notes emphasized, the father's responsss o her

questions. He acknowledged that he had in the past drunk too much beer and spent (oo much of

his non-work time away from his family. He had ceased this behavior last year when he had
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become an evangelical Christian, She questioned him further shout whether he remembered the
specific date he hed stopped this behavior; he replied that he did in Fct recall the day, since it
was on Father's Day. She took this response ss evidence of slcoholism, since she felt that only
an aleoholic would remember exactly when he had stopped drinking. Both parents
acknowledged thet there had been ane previous ACS involvement, when one of the boys arrived
at school with a bruise. The report was unfounded by ACS, as it had been the result of an
encounter belween their child and another youngster outside. The caseworker, Ms, Mathison-
Bdwards did not even mention this unfounded seport in her testimony. In his interview, the
father also candidly acknowledged family immigeation issucs. Dr. Jenssen found that these
answers heightened her suspicions and demonstrated to her that the parents were not
fortheoming, Througheut her testimony, Dr. Jenssen was quite defensive and argumentative with
all counsel except Petitioner’s sttorney who had called her as its witmness,

Dr. Steven Jack Schneider, qualified as an expert in pediatric neurosurgexy, tostified
professionally and without any apparent bias. Dr. Schneider testified thet, of the three purported
fractures, thf; one described as the oldest, the oceipital fraciure, was almost cerfainly a
developmentsl anomaly {due to “wormian bones™). He certainly had never told Dr. Jonssen that
this was an ofd fractare. As for the other fractures, he did aot believe the line observed on the
CAT scan were an ariifact. They were real. Howsver, he considered it sxtremely unlikely thas
the two linear feft side fractures represented separste injuries. Rather, they were a single
continuous fiacture. Jennifer had suffered a single injucy rather than, as it might first might have
appeared, three separale ones, Rejecling the possibility that the injury had resulted from a simple

fall, Dr. Schaeider postulated some alternative possibilities. He pointed out that a fall from 4 fest

iz



even onto carpeting could preduce the fracture without any external bruising, if the persen
holding the baby fell onto her, s could a four foot fall onto  tile floor. If the baby were thrown
while the person holding her was walking, the fracture could result. These scensrios were
possible, he explained, because the physics and mechanies of momentum diffees from a fall fom
rest. Dr. Schnelder was at pains to differentiate between the situation in which the baby was
dropped from a standing position, and the one in which she was dropped or thrown by someone
moving. The fracture could also have occurved if Jennifer struck some hard projection while
falling., but Dr. Schneider thought that less | ikely, as such injury is generally accompanied by =
visible depression in the head {a “ping-pong injury”).
Insofar as relevant to this proceeding, Family Court Act §1046(2)(ii) provides, that:
proof of injuries sustained by & child or of the condition of a child
of such a nature as would ordinarily not be sustained or exist
except by reason of the acts or omissions of the pareat or other
person legally responsible for the care of such child shall be prima
facie evidence of child abuse or neglect, as the case may ba, of the
parent or other person legally responsible.
This provision of the child protective statute has been constyued to permit “a finding of 3
abuse or neglect based upon evidence of an injury to a child which would ordinsdly not occur
Philip M., 82 NY2d 238, 244)

absent acts or omissions of the responsible caretaker” (Matter of
(1593) in that “{sJection. 1046(a)(ii} provides that a prima ficic case of child abuse or neglect
may be esteblished by svidetice of (1) an injury to & child which would ordirsarily nol oocur

absent an act or omissions of respondents, and (2) that cespondents were caretakess of the child at

the time thet the injury sccurred” (Matler of

Once the petitioner has ssmblished a prima facie case of sbuse or neglect the
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“respondents may simply rest without attempting to rebut the presumptions and psrmit the court
fo decids the case on the strength of the petitioner’s evidence or, alternatively, they may present
evidence which challenges the establishment of the prima facie case. Their evidence may, fos
example,

(1) establish that dusing the time period when the child was injured, the child was not in
respondent’s care; (2) demonsirate that the injury or condition could reasonably have occurred

accidentally, without the acts or otnissions of ths respondent; or (3) counter the evidence that the

child had the condition which was the basis for the finding of Injury™ (Mati
at 244-245).

As a matter of law, the burden of proving abuse or neglect by 2 preponderance of the
evidence always remains with the petitioner. Thus, where the petitioner's evidence establishes 2
prima facie case, “the burden of going Forward shifis to respondents to rsbut the evideacs of
*** culpability *** the burden of proving child abuse always rests with petitioner; shifing the

burden of explanation or of golng on with the case does not shift the burden of proof” (Matter of

. Philip M.. suprs, at 244 [intemnal citation omitied], Theralore, while the establishment ofa priva

facie case permits the trial court to make 2 finding of abuse or neglect, the covrt “fa never

reguired to do so”
This cass of alleged child abuse illustrates the problems inhereat in deriving findings

of fact from expert testimony. The difference betwesn the testimony of the two experts was also
the difference belwetn an apparent pattern ofabuse and 2 one-time incident which may sctually

not have been abuse at all. Dr. Jenssen saw three fiactures, oae of which, which she thought was
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older, in and of itself convinced her of the abuss. She argued that this occipits] Facture could not
have been accidentsl. She did not mention that the pediatric newosurgeon on her own team, Dr,
Schneider, had thought that it most likely was not be a Fracture &t all, He pointed out that in
some cases bones are “Waormian,” giving the false impression of a frachuce, This condition
pertaining to bones imperfectly “knitting,” at the base of the skull, was first noted in the skulls of
ancient Inca Indians, who came from exactly the part of the werld from which the Lliviganay

farnily originates (in their csse, Eceador). It is & developmental snomaly found in the South
American population the L . s belong to. Because Dr. Jenssen who testified before Dr.
Schneider did, never mentioned the issue, she could not be cross-examined as to exactly why she
refected De. Schneidec's interpretation. Remarkably, Petitioner never recalled Dz, Jenssen to
address Dr, Schneider’s testimony.

The Court is painfully aware of the frequency of serious child abuse, and it has 5o
interest in leaving a child st the mercy of abusers. The Res Ipsa presumption is necded because
in many cases, such as this one, the child in question cannot pessibiy say what happened.
Conversely, the Count is also aware that parents run & real risk of being accused of abuse when
they being injured childrea to doctors and do not know who injured the child. Any experience
with such scousations sensitizes thom to further contact with child protective agencies, There is &
real possibility that bending too far in the direction of seeing abuse, and of blaming both parents
under the Res Ipsa dociring, may cause parents to avoid bringing children to doctors, sind thus
raay endanger those children,

Cases that have reached appellate couris show thsl pasental behavior is very fmportant in

judging probabilities in situations like this ons, in which it will never be possible to be certain of
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what happened. Parental behavior is certainly a factor courts use to assess the steengths of

parents” rebuttal evidence. Contrast with, e.g. Matter of Kayla C,, 797 NYS2nd, 2005 Ap;ﬁDEv
{2 nd Dept.) LEXIS 7288 {2005) (mother's resistance and hostility towands home healih
professionals’ assistance); Matier of Alyesa C.M.., 17 AD3rd 1023 (4 th Dept. 2005) {parent’s

delay in seeking medical care); Matter of Nyomi A.D. 10 AD3nd (2 nd Dept. 2004) {cancellation
of the child’s medical appointment after injury sustained ); and Matter of Peter B., & AD3rd 576

(2 nd Dept. 2004) (mother’s initial deseription of incident enhanced and elaborated ducing trial
testimony,) This Court found it very significant that the parents in question were not evasive,
They did not change their stories to evade responsibility for their child. They did not try io shift
blame or to exagperatie what had happened. They cénsisienﬁy said that whatever had happened
had ocourred when their 15 year old daughter D: had dropped the child,

Whether or riat that statement is correct, it has some implications, The Court believes
with Dr. Schneider that there was only 2 single fracture. There was, then, a single event which
caused the fracture. Medical evidence showed that it had occurred no more than three days prior
to the discavery of the fracture, during a period when all five school-age children were home afl
the time due to & school recess. The fracture was classified a5 acute, meaning oceurring within 0-
3 days prior to the child’z admission to Mary Immaculate Hospital, Supposs the parents had
caused the fracture in & single fit of shuse. Then we must imagine that they had the guile to wait
for another incident, when the chﬁé was dropped {(and, incidentally, reacted by screaming ina

way different from any previcus scream) fo take the child to 2 hospital, hoping that the doctors

would blame the eadier injury on the daughter D + Yet the pasents always scemed qﬁiﬁa o

guilelass. [t seems more likely that, if the fracture occurred before the kuown fall which led io the
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hospital visit, the parents were unaware of it. They rushed the baby to the hospital, probably
because of their carlier exposure to ACS (in 2 case deemed unfounded). That the fracture was
unlikely to have resulted from the fall shocked them.

Rtis inherent ina Res Ipsa proceeding that we do not know exactly what bappened. The

15 year old was badly shocked by what she thought she had dore. Even the spparent witness, the
G-year old child, said he was watching television and thus probably saw sothing until he heard
the baby scream. The mother clearly forbade her children, apart from the 15-year old, from
holding the child, for fear of injury. Did ons of them defy her and fall on top of the child while
holding or moving with the baby? Did the 15-year old drop the child on something hard fike =
projecting piece of femiture? Accerding to Dr. Schneider, either could have produced this
fractiese,

The parents seemaed to the Court, which s the finder of fact, to be extremely credible.
They also seemed, quite properly, io fee! that they had beea caught up in a Kaflmesque
nightmare.

In this particular case, a mather of six was running a bath. She told tier 1 5-year ofd
daughter 1o hold the 5 month old. She testified that she heard a soream, and saw the child bying
on the floor in evident distress. The daughter, who is a victim of cerebral paisy or other disorder
which causes har to mave awkwardly, said thet she had dropped the child. The mother
immediately called ber husband, who told her to call an ambulages, The hospital ran a non-three

dimensionat CAT scan, which initially showed two frachsres. These events are not in dispute,
The child abuse team at the hospital was headed by Dr. Jenssen. She interpreted the sean

to show multiple fractures inflicted at different tiznes, amounting o evidence of 2 paitem of child
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abuse. [nterviewing the hushand, she became convinced that the problem was his alcoholism,
She rejected his claim that, although he had been a drinker in the past, his conversion to become
an evangelical Christian had solved the problem. The husband found Dr. Jenssen’s emphasis on
ethnic and religious issues odd and even distasteful, The court takes nofe of the fact that Dr.

Jenssen is a pediatrician, not a psychiatrist or psychologist or qualified social worker. It is not
clear to what extent her views on the reletionship between the parenis and their presentation
should be counted as expert. It is notable that Dr. Jenssen stated that she considered the social
situation of the family a key indizator of abuse or non-abusc. She seemed to veer back and forth
tetween saying that the parents acted suspiciously and basing her entire finding of abuse on the
physical evidence, Even then the supposed existeace of the earlier fracture was crucial to her
conclusions. -

A pedialric neurgsurgeon from Schneider Children's Hospitaf. Dr. Schneider, interpreted
the three dimensional CAT scan data. He saw s single fracture, which had spread in two distinct
directions. Dr. Schneider alsa thdught that the sean might show a condition called wormian
bones, u particular way in which an infant's skull knits after birth which is common in South and
Central American populations— which is whal the parents are,

Both doctors doubted that the 15 year old's account could be aceurate. Dr. Jenssen cited
studies of 367 cases in which babies had been dropped in hospitals; slightly fewer than | percent

of which (3) bad suffered skull fmctures.
Given the contradictions between the various witnesses, it was up to the court to weigh

their credibility. The parents seemed quite credible. Dr. Jenssen's belief that religion could not

affect sleoholism runs counter to the well-established suceess of Alcoholics Anonymaous, which

18



is based on a religious theme. That connection was brought out some years ago when an atheist
sued to keep & court from demanding that he attend Alcoholics Anonymous on exactly the

ground that it contradicted hiy anti-religious belicfs. See, Matter of Griffin v. Coughlin, 88 NY2d

(1996) There was, moreover; no prior record of abuse or neglect in & family which had been
raising children for fifteen years. There is every evidence that this child fad always been well
cared for.

The child encountered no further problems in foster care. That could be interpreted as
proof that she had beeo saved from an abusive houschold, or else as an indication that the

fracture had been 2 one-time accidental event.

The original remand order was premised on imminent danger. That would make sense if
thers had been three fractures, but it is much more difficult o support if thore was only one
incident, especially where the single incident is not 50 obviously 2 case of abuse, The much-
cited hospital study used phrases like “highly unlikely” to describe the possibility that 2 child
dropped on her head would sustain 2 skull fracture. Highly unlikely is not never. Many would
count a 5 or even 10 percent chance as highly unlikely, but in a study of 500 cases that would
equate to 25 or 50 skull fractures. Ifno skull fractures at afl had been seen, the study would
have said never - zero percent, The court is, moreover, mindfil that this iea fairly old study,
and that more recent ones have not been cited to back it up, Can anyone believe that, of the
millions of babies in hospitals in the United States, only 300 or 400 have been dropped on their
heads during the past decade or 507 That the study was done by hospitals, moreover, raises s
question. IFit were ever accepied that dropping a baby on her skull invited a fracture, would not

the haspitals face much stiffer liability? If that is understood, then the ahsence of more recent
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studies suggests that skepticism is in order. As noted abave, the cited study is not nearly so

decisive as it might appear.
The court must note the contradiction in Dr. Jenssen's methodology-on the one hand she

relies on lack of explanation, which might scem objective; on the other, she says again and again
that her perception of the social situation of the family is key—if is what aroused her suspicions.

It follows that if she were somehow misinterpreting that social situation, by her own stated

methodology she could not be nearly so sure of abuse, Moreover, the rate of reported injuries in
the study, just under { percent, is significant. This percentage means that for every thousand
cases in which infants Eell, ten would cesultin slull fractures not resulting fom any kind of
abuse. Dr. Jenssen described such fracthures as occurred here as “highly improbable.” As the law
guardian for the five older children pointed oul, highly improbable is not at all the same as
‘never.’ Highly improbable might mean as much 2s 5 percent of the time, or even 10 percent. In
the same ten thousand cases, that would mear 50 ar 100 slul! fractures wrongly attributed to
abuse.

Almost never is by no means the same thing as never. Recont charges conceming drug
companies’ involvement in clinical trials and in medical publications highlight the fact that such
studies may be much more self-interested than they appear. It is up to those using them to
consider that possibility. Worse, the study is fairly old, in a rapidly-changing area of medical
research. This research apparently does much more than cross tsand dot is; it seems often to be
changing our inderstanding of just what enuses a variety of exactly the injuries with which
Courts like this one are concerned. In one case, in England, thete was 2 major national scandal,

because an expert doctor condemned several women to prison for injuries it later tumed out they
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almast certainly had not cansed.

Although it did not use this information in making its decision, the Court is aware that the
scientific study of child infuries i3 a very active area of medical research. As in other areas, the
views of the scientific community can change quite rapidly and drastically. In particular, some
recent studies have brought into question fong-established views of the origins of child injuries,
in one country (England) causing the reversal of convictions, This {nereased research effort
makes the Court question why, in (his case, the research cited is somewhat elderly. Asan
example of a semi-popuiar sccount of the shesr volume and significance of recant work, the
Court notes an acticle in the 30 Jul?! 2005 issue of The New Scientist {(pp 6-8), 2 long-established
British journal, which in tum cites technical medice] articles: Archives of Pediatric and
Adolescent Medicine, Volume 158, p. 454 (“Studies of Trio of Symptoms Found in Shaken-
Baby Cases”) and American Journal of Forensic Medicine and Pathology, Vol. 22, p.1. Again,
the Court rolied on none of these articles. It did cbserve with concern that the medical evidence
velied only on older research in a rapidly-developing area,

The charge, in effect, is one of depraved indifference fo the welfare of the child. The
Court, howevez, sees no evidence that either parent intentionally injured the child or showed
anyihing resembling depraved indifference. There is every appearance that the Llivigenayz sre a
leving, concemed, intact family -- exactly what the entire Family Court sysiem atismpis to foster

and preserve. Dr. Jenssen saw stresses and hidden faws based on one in-person interview with

the parents and on one telephone interview with one child, In contrast the experienced case
warker who has been continuously supervising and observing all of the children 2nd the parents

for more than s year observed no such stresses. She describes the family as well-adjusted and
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loving,
The Court feels that overly broad use of Res Ipsa charges will Tikely deter parents from

bringing children to doctors as nceded. [t is notable that in this case the parents behaved exactly
as they were supposed to, and also that they avoided placing undue blame on the 15 year old
daughter - who actusily admitted dropping the infant. The Court can say this because it has had
very extensive experience of parents who clearly did not want to expose themselves to abuse
charges, and who adopted dodges such as going to different doctors and hospitals which might be
unawate of their children’s previous conditions. This case does not seem to bear comparison
with those cases. Unless 2 conscious distinction is made between credible and incredible parents,
the court system will be condemning entirely innocent children to no medical care at all, What

might seem to b reasonable insurance against error, always assuming neglect, will turn out to be

the opposite.
The Court considered Dr. Schneider substantially mote expert than Dt, Jenssen, and it

accepts his view that there was only one fracture event, Thus there is no evident pattern of child
abuse. The Court found it odd that Dr. Jenssen so rigidly rejected any altemative to her favored

scenario, despile advice from her own child abuse team.
Dr, Jenssen seemed unable to make up her mind as to how she could be sure that the

pareni(s) bad been abusive. On the one hand, she seemed to emphasize the fact of the fracture(s)
and the absence of a credible explanation. On the other, she decided that the parents wers likely
to be abusive because of her perception of their family siressors, and, perhaps, because of their
stated beliefs. The family had freely shared with her intimate details, such as the father's
acknowledgment that in the past he had drunk toa much beer, and had spent too much non-wark
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time away froa his family. Also, that he cessed this behavior upon his conversion to evangelical
Christianity. They also told her that ACS had investigated a prior report of suspected child
negleet, which turned out to be unfounded; and shared with her family immigration issues.
Despite these disclosures, she found that they were not forthcoming, that they were hiding
something, despite any factual or analytical basis for her conclusion. She could not imagine that
someane could conquer & dependency without a formal progrem or that personal religious beliefs
could sustain a person in this situation. She could not belisve that anyone other than an
alcoholic, for instance, could remember the day he ceased his habit, even if that day happened to
be Father's Day, and even if that day occurred within the last year, She seemed not to identify
with the many persons who could, for example cecall the date when he oc she stopped smoking,
or that such person accomplished that on his or her own. She specifically emphesized the
parents’ previous encounler with ACS as a factor in her assessment, then backtracked when il
became clear that the earlier sllegation had been unfounded, Given these movings back and
forth, the Court gained the impression that Dr. Jenssen had formed an infuitive judgment, and
that she would make almost any argument to back it vp,

Additionally, Dr. Jenssen’s demeanor during her testimony seemed to belie her
professional status. She was inappropriately argumentaiive and surprisingly defensive. Al one
point, during cross-examination by the respondent father’s atiorney, she contemptuously refused
(o answer a question, characterizing it as ridiculous, until ordered to do o by the coust. This
might have been expected in an inexperienced witness, but not in a professional witness who has

testified in dozens, if not in hundveds, of cases. Similacly, this Court was taken aback by Dr.

Jenszen's overly dramatic hand gesturey,
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The Court was also very impressed by a significant omission in Dr, Jenssen’s testimony.
A member of her tsam, more bighly qualified than she in pediatric neurology, had called into
question the very existence of the fracture (occlpital) upon which she had relied so heavily in
raking an allegation of child abuse. This omission made it unnecessary for her to explain why
she disagreed with her team member. This Court found Dr. Schneider, this team member, {0 be
far more credible and far more professional. Remarkably, Petitioner never sought to recall Dr.
Jenssen as a rebuftal witness to Dr. Schneider in this critical aspect of testimony.

In contrast, this Court finds Mr. and Mrs. very credible , but without guile, and
very inferested in the welifare of theic children. They seemed to be excellent parents.

Their testimony was brief, but compelling. They were not rattled by cross-exarsination
which is an accepted Iegal test of veracity. They were not impeached. They scemed entirely

straightforward on the stand, Bach made dirsct eye conlact with the questioners. Neither scemed

vnduly nervous. They testified consistently with the account of events the day fell which
each had given before. They described what appeared lo be a siable, supportive relationship.

They had been married for spproximately seventeen years, Mrs. stayed at home as a

full-time homemaker and mother. M, * worked as a construction foreman,

supervising & crew of appraximately fifteen. He has held this same responsible position for
appraximately twelve years, and supports his family ca his annual income of approximately
seventy to seventy-five thousand dollars per year. Their testimony did not revea! any of the

stressors about which Dr. Jenssen had speculated.

Child abuse is a very reaf and terrible problem. This Court has taken numerous children

from parents it considers abusive. It feels no need to prove ils determination to protect children.
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This is a rare case in which the totalfty of the evidence, including the parents® credible and
sincere  teslimony and their accurate recoliections of events, coupled with the apparently
Inzccurate assertion of multiple fractures, adequately rebuts the Res Ipsa prasumption that the
parents were individually or jointly responsible for the injury to the child.

The Court would again emphasize that cases such as this one do not admit of simple

solution insuring against future tréuble. Taking a child from a toving family injures that child,
aita , INY 3nd 357

quite aside from the future chilling effect cited, See. e
{2004). Leaving a child with an abusive family invites further disaster, Neither solufion ig
without risk. In this particular case, the family seems loving and intsef, and pases no risk (o

I The evidence of abuse seerms flimsy, particulady since the key study is open to
altemative interpretation. From the Court’s point of view, it wee very compelling that the best-

qualified wilness, Dr. Schneider, saw only thevsingie fracture event.
The Court certainly ancepts thet Jennifer suffersd éseﬁaus injuey, albelt, fortunately, with

no long-term effects. The Court also accepts thal the proffered explanation, although clearly not
impossible, is unlikely to be correct. What the Courl daes not aceept iz that either perent
accidentally or maliciously caused this injury or accident; or that they individually or Jointly
allowed it oceur; or that they made any effort to cover it up, Present with the baby were five
children ranging in age from eight to fifteen, all of whom loved the baby and badly wanted to
hold her. The mother explicitly forbade all but the fiftesn year-old from doing so. Childeen are
not machines. They do not always do what they are told. The Cowrt considers it &r more likely
that any of the children dropped the baby onio  hard surface such as the bathroom tile flsor , or

fell while moving with the baby, sither of which both Drs, Jenssen and Schaeider tastified conld
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have caused the cbserved injury.
Tars Court thereloze conclnles, Iised spun its she-reationy of the winesses amxd
assessments of their credibility and bnsed upon the totalily of the recard, the responden pavents

have demenshraled that the injury 10 J. could have oeew red aceidenally, without te a3

or oirussions of the parents. See, Matterof Philhip M sepra. 82 NY24 238, 200 They have

sepurted the res ipsa presumglon and Peblinfivt Bar, Cralead t grveet itg hurden of proof The

remand order for T i vienfed,

K is therefore
ORDERER, that Petitioner haviap fxiled to vstablish the aflegauuns i e pretitions with respest

1o the respondenis © - nd ). the petstion are dismiewed a3 10 them in meehind

with Family Court Act §1031(e}

i The instant decision and order follows in informal oral decision read itte the record on
July 28, 2005, {This Court stayed any effzel of that informal decision by staying vacatur of its
remand order of J - unti! it jssued ihe writicn decision and order of 10 Aujust]. A review
of those proceedings reveals the following omiszion in the formal decision and order dated
August 10,2005: Axwas communicated 1o all counse! and pacies en July 28, 2005, Uze coun,
following a lenghy foci-finding Jsearing, having found no credible evidence lo suppori chifd
abuse allegations apainst the respondenis, dismisses any remaining neglect alicgations pussuant

1o Farmily Court Act §1051{c).

Tl Family, including the five childrsn nged eight 1o fifteen who remained at

home with the parents, as well as the baby, J who has been on remand siaius, has been
under ACS and Foresidale Agency supervision during the lenpthy pendency of this cuse. 1 is
clear that the family did not and does net, sccording 10 ACS reports, require any further ACS

¢orvices or prolection. Wirkers have pheerved the parsnis 1o be sppropriale and laving lowards
all of the ckildren @ all siancs. There aze 10 outs tapding cofeerals fw sopvires and there nre 0o

sduntified child profeciion Basues
A Theelore, this Count delermnes chat jis and it not requared on the record before it

(FCA §1051(e)); Ser, £, Maerof Lewis T, 249 AD2d 648, 648 (3cd Dept. 1998); Matter of
Baby Girl ., 245 AD24 830, §31-532 (31d Dept. 1997 Maueal Angeln ., 175 ADRd 241

245 (2nd Dept. 1981) because these is no evidence that the sespandents and the children require
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ENTER

RHEA G. FRUEDMAN

Judge ol the Family Court

Dated: Jamajen, New Yark

Aupmst 31, 3003

ciive apency, See also, Maneraf Machacl

continuell supervision or profection by tlie child prate atier of
changed sircumstances while chiidren have

B. SONY2d 2993 18 {1992)[new developments ant
been removed datermining parenis’ fizness and right lo custody].
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